
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

ISAAC FLORES 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

KARL MANUEL 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

TYRONE MORRIS 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

DARNELL PIERCE 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

BRIAN SNOWDEN 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

JAMAR WATERS 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Plaintiffs, 

Civil Action No. ____________________ 

JURY DEMAND ENDORSED HEREON 

v. 

BRIAN EMIG, in his individual capacity, and in 

his official capacity as Warden of  

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center  

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 
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S. HOWARD, in his individual capacity, and in

his official capacity as Warden of the

Correctional Emergency Response Team

(CERT) for the Delaware Department of

Correction

245 McKee Rd.

Dover, Delaware 19904

All of the following in their official capacities: 

Correctional Officer Kristin Bartell 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer Challis 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Capt. Coviello 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Cpl. Todd Koch 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Sgt. Mejia 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Staff Lieutenant Robert Mock 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer Payton 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 
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1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer Spencer 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Lt. Brian Vanes 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer Wiest 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer White 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

Correctional Officer Wilgus 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center 

1181 Paddock Rd. 

Smyrna, Delaware 19977 

JOHN DOES, members of the CERT 

Delaware Department of Correction 

245 McKee Rd.  

Dover, Delaware 19904, 

Defendants. 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

1. Plaintiffs are individuals incarcerated at the James T. Vaughn Correctional

Center in Smyrna, Delaware. 
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2. Defendants are correctional officers, the Warden of Vaughn, and the Warden of

the Delaware Department of Corrections Correctional Emergency Response Team (CERT). 

3. Late at night on September 5, 2024, and continuing into the early morning hours

of September 6, 2024, Defendants conducted violent, coordinated attacks on Plaintiffs and 

other individuals incarcerated at Vaughn. The unprovoked and unjustified attacks involved 

flagrant uses of excessive force, unwarranted and illegal strip searches, sexual assault, threats, 

degradation, and intimidation.  

4. Plaintiffs have therefore filed this suit pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and 42 U.S.C.

§1983.

5. Plaintiffs seek a declaration that Defendants have violated their constitutional

rights, and an injunction preventing any further unconstitutional attacks. 

JURISDICTION & VENUE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §

1331, in that this is a civil action arising under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to declare 

the rights of the parties and redress violations of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution.  

7. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2), as the

parties are all located in this District, and the acts or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred 

in this district. 
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PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff Isaac Flores is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware. 

9. Plaintiff Karl Manuel is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware. 

10. Plaintiff Tyrone Morris is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware. 

11. Plaintiff Darnell Pierce is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware. 

12. Plaintiff Brian Snowden is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware, 

13. Plaintiff Jamar Waters is an adult individual who is incarcerated at James T.

Vaughn Correctional Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He is a citizen of Delaware, 

14. Defendant Brian Emig serves as the Warden of James T. Vaughn Correctional

Center in Smyrna, Delaware. He participated in, and/or supervised and directed the attacks on 

Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

15. Defendant S. Howard is the Warden of the Delaware Department of Corrections

Correctional Emergency Response Team (CERT). He participated in, and/or supervised and 

directed the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

16. According to the Department of Correction, the purpose of the CERT is “to

perform advanced, high-risk or community operations,” to, “provide tactical responses during 
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emergency situations,” and to, “assist with escapee/erroneous release operations.” CERT 

operations are not a regular, everyday function of running any prison in Delaware.1  

17. Defendant Correctional Officer Kristin Bartell is a correctional officer employed

by the Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  She was present 

for, and conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

18. Defendant Correctional Officer Challis is a correctional officer employed by the

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  She was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

19. Defendant Capt. Coviello is a correctional officer employed by the Delaware

Department of Correction.  He was present for, and conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took 

place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

20. Defendant Corporal Todd Koch is a correctional officer employed by the

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

21. Defendant Sgt. Mejia is a correctional officer employed by the Delaware

Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and conducted, 

the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

22. Defendant Staff Lt. Robert Mock is a correctional officer employed by the

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

1 https://doc.delaware.gov/views/bureau_of_prison.blade.shtml. 
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23.    Defendant Correctional Officer Payton is a correctional officer employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  She was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

24.    Defendant Correctional Officer Spencer is a correctional officer employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. 

25.    Defendant Lieutenant Brian Vanes gave the CERT the order to perform mass 

shakedowns on September 5 and 6, 2024, and directed the unjustified, unlawful, and 

unconstitutional actions of the CERT.  

26.    Defendant Correctional Officer Wiest is a correctional officer employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

27.    Defendant Correctional Officer White is a correctional officer employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

28.    Defendant Correctional Officer Wilgus is a correctional officer employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction, and also a member of the CERT.  He was present for, and 

conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024.  

29.    Defendants John Does are unidentified correctional officers employed by the 

Delaware Department of Correction who are also members of the CERT. They were present for, 

and conducted, the attacks on Plaintiffs that took place on September 5 and 6, 2024. Reasonable 

discovery will identify them by name. Plaintiffs are not able to identify all of the CERT members 
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who assaulted them, because the CERT operates in full riot gear, which obscures both their faces 

and their name badges.  

FACTS REGARDING JAMES T. VAUGHN CORRECTIONAL CENTER 

30. At the James T. Vaughn Correctional Center, Buildings 17, 18, and 19 are the

segregated housing unit (SHU). (Declaration of Brian Snowden ¶ 22, attached as Exhibit A) 

(hereafter cited as “Snowden Decl. ¶ __.”).  

31. Each building, including Building 18, has four tiers—A, B, C, and D. Snowden

Decl. ¶ 23. 

32. Each of the tiers has an upper level and a lower level. Each level has twelve

single-occupancy cells. There is also one handicapped cell on each tier, so each tier has a total of 

twenty-five (25) cells. Snowden Decl. ¶ 24.  

33. As set forth below, late at night on September 5, 2024, the CERT began an

operation on A-Tier in Building 18. Its operation proceeded to B-Tier, and then throughout all of 

Building 18.  

FACTS RELATED TO PLAINTIFF ISAAC FLORES 

34. At all times relevant to this case, Plaintiff Isaac Flores was incarcerated at James

T. Vaughn Correctional Center. (Declaration of Isaac Flores ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit B)

(hereafter cited as “Flores Decl. ¶ __.”) 

35. On September 5, 2024, Flores was housed in cell B, upper 3 on B-Tier in Building

18. Flores Decl. ¶ 4.

36. Between 11:00 p.m. and midnight on September 5, 2024, the CERT began

shaking down cells on A-Tier in Building 18. Next they came to B-Tier and started going cell to 

cell conducting shakedowns. Flores Decl. ¶ 5. 
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37.    Flores recalls that there were four or five members of the CERT who came to his 

cell, but the only officers involved that Flores could identify are Defendant Staff Lieutenant 

Mock, and correctional officer Wiest. Flores Decl. ¶ 6. 

38.   Staff Lieutenant Mock ordered Flores to get up off his bunk and strip. Flores 

Decl. ¶ 7. 

39.    Flores started removing his clothing and complied with all orders issued by the 

CERT. Flores Decl. ¶ 8. 

40.    After he had stripped, a CERT member ordered Flores to squat and cough. A 

member of the CERT then pointed at Flores’s penis and made a demeaning joke about it. Flores 

Decl. ¶ 9. 

41.    Without any threat from Flores, and without any further orders or warning, a 

member of the CERT then pepper-sprayed Flores at very close range, in violation of DOC policy 

and the training provided to correctional officers. A member of the CERT punched Flores in the 

mouth so hard that Flores’s teeth pierced through his lip. Flores Decl. ¶ 10. 

42.    Still naked, Flores fell to the ground and CERT members continued punching and 

kicking him in his face, legs, buttocks, and other parts of his body. CERT members 

simultaneously made comments like, “You’re not laughing no more!” Flores Decl. ¶ 11. 

43.     The CERT handcuffed Flores face down naked on the floor of his cell, then 

remarked, “You’re really going to like this one!” and again pepper sprayed him at close range. 

Flores Decl. ¶ 12. 

44.   At no time during the incident did Flores fail to obey an order or resist or threaten 

the CERT members. Flores Decl. ¶ 13. 
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45. The CERT then took Flores to a detention cell on C-Tier which had a toilet and

sink, but no bunk, locker, or other features of a regular cell. Flores was one of only two 

individuals placed in these detention cells; all other inmates whose cells were shaken down were 

placed in C-Tier in regular cells after the shakedowns. Flores Decl. ¶ 14.  

46. Flores spent four days in the detention cell. He repeatedly asked Warden Emig

and others why he had been placed in the detention cell instead of a regular cell, even though 

there were regular cells available. Flores Decl. ¶ 15. 

47. Eventually correctional officers moved Flores to a regular cell. Flores Decl. ¶ 16.

48. Flores was not allowed to shower for at least a day, in spite of the fact that no one

decontaminated Flores after he was sprayed, and he was not able to properly decontaminate 

himself. Flores Decl. ¶ 17. 

49. The CERT wrote Flores up for allegedly resisting them and refusing to obey

orders. Flores appealed the write up which was reversed after the hearing examiner found there 

was no evidence that he had actively resisted or disobeyed orders. Flores Decl. ¶ 18. 

50. Flores suffered physical and psychological injuries as a result of the unprovoked

and violet attack. A nurse took a photo of the injury to Flores’s lip, which has now formed a scar. 

He also suffered pain in his left shoulder from when the CERT shoved him to the floor and 

wrenched his arm behind his back to cuff him. He also suffers fear and anxiety as a result of the 

attack, as well as PTSD any time he hears another inmate or correctional officer mention that the 

CERT may be operating at Vaughn. Flores Decl. ¶ 19. 

51. Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, Flores

has endured the mental torture of fearing death and fearing that another incident like this could 

happen again any time on any day, for no reason. Flores Decl. ¶ 20. 
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52. Flores filed a grievance related to the CERT’s actions, but his grievance was

returned unprocessed, with a note that it was being forwarded to CERT Warden S. Howard. 

Flores has not heard any follow up since he received that paperwork. A true and accurate copy of 

his grievance paperwork is attached to his Declaration as Exhibit B-1. Flores Decl. ¶ 21.  

FACTS REGARDING PLAINTIFF KARL MANUEL 

53. At all times relevant to this case, Plaintiff Karl Manuel was incarcerated at James

T. Vaughn Correctional Center. (Declaration of Karl Manuel ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit C)

(hereafter cited as “Manuel Decl. ¶ __.”) 

54. Manuel’s cell is located in Building 18, lower 8 at Vaughn. Manuel Decl. ¶ 4.

55. On the evening of September 5, 2024, Manuel was lying in bed watching a

football game with ear buds in his ears. Manuel Decl. ¶ 5. 

56. Between 9:00 and 10:00 p.m. that night, Manuel heard and saw members of the

CERT banging on his cell door. Manuel Decl. ¶ 6. 

57. In Manuel’s experience, lying flat on one’s bunk is standard procedure during a

random search of an inmate’s cell, so he laid down flat on his bunk. Manuel Decl. ¶ 7. 

58. Then the food flap in Manuel’s cell door opened, and a big silver canister thrown

by a CERT member flew into the cell, hit Manuel in the chest, then activated and started spewing 

pepper spray into the air. Manuel Decl. ¶ 8. 

59. Manuel did not do or say anything that would justify the CERT tossing a pepper

grenade into his cell. Manuel Decl. ¶ 9. 

60. The pepper spray made Manuel’s eyes burn. He had difficulty breathing and fell

to the floor. Manuel Decl. ¶ 10. 
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61.   The CERT entered Manuel’s cell, put a blanket over him, beat him, pulled his 

pants down, and digitally sodomized him. Manuel Decl. ¶ 11.  

62.    During the attack, Manuel suffered an injury to his hand when CERT members 

stomped on his wrist while he was handcuffed. Manuel Decl. ¶ 12. 

63.     The only members of the CERT that Manuel can positively identify are 

Defendant Corporal Todd Koch and Defendant Correctional Officer White. Koch is identified on 

the Incident Report as the lead officer and the individual who threw the pepper grenade into 

Manuel’s cell through the food flap. White later acknowledged to Manuel that he had been a 

member of the CERT on the night of the incident. Manuel Decl. ¶ 13. 

64.    While CERT members were punching Manuel as he laid on the floor of his cell, a 

CERT member punched Manuel in the mouth, knocking several teeth loose and knocking his 

denture plate out of his mouth. Three teeth had to be removed on December 11, 2024. Manuel 

Decl. ¶ 14. 

65.    CERT then took Manuel to the barbershop area, where nurses were already 

gathered, apparently in anticipation of the injuries that would result from the raid. Manuel told 

them he was asthmatic. They ordered him to stand against the wall, but he fell to the ground, 

saying, “I can’t breathe.” Manuel Decl. ¶ 15. 

66.   CERT then took Manuel to the hole. The last thing one of the CERT members 

said to him was, “Next time you’ll listen to me.” Manuel Decl. ¶ 16. 

67.     No one decontaminated Manuel after he was pepper sprayed, and he was not able 

to properly decontaminate himself. Manuel was not allowed to shower until September 7, 2024. 

Manuel Decl. ¶ 17. 
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68. At no time during the incident did Manuel fail to obey an order or resist the

CERT members. Manuel Decl. ¶ 18. 

69. Eventually Manuel was taken to see a nurse, who said he would report the

incident for PREA purposes. Sargeant Hutchinson is conducting the investigation, which is 

ongoing. Manuel talked with Hutchinson twice and told him the entire story. Hutchinson later 

came to see Manuel and asked him to fill out a form requesting a transfer out of Vaughn, which 

Manuel did. Manuel Decl. ¶ 19. 

70. Manuel repeatedly informed the Vaughn staff about his hand injury, but Vaughn 

took no action until September 22, when Manuel’s hand was finally x-rayed. The x-rays revealed 

that Manuel’s hand is dislocated in three places, that he suffered tendon damage and a broken 

finger, and that he will require wrist fusion surgery. Manuel Decl. ¶ 20.  

71. Manuel has been told that he will not be able to see a hand specialist until 

February of 2025. Manuel Decl. ¶ 21. 

72. While Manuel was in the hole, a correctional officer brought him some of his

property. The officer told Manuel his cell looked like a war zone, and that it made no sense that 

the CERT had ransacked his cell, breaking Manuel’s glasses and his dental plate in the process. 

Manuel Decl. ¶ 22. 

73. Later, while the officer was taking Manuel back to nursing for another evaluation,

he again told Manuel in front of several witnesses that Manuel’s cell looked like a disaster area, 

and that CERT had broken his glasses and denture plate.  Manuel Decl. ¶ 23. 

74. Eventually Manuel saw the dentist, who expressed concern that the CERT had

broken his dental plate. Manuel Decl. ¶ 24. 
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75. When Manuel finally returned to his cell, he found that the CERT had confiscated

much of his personal property, including his radio, sneakers, and food—none of which were 

contraband. His papers were also confiscated, destroyed, or ruined by having water poured all 

over them. Manuel Decl. ¶ 25. 

76. Manuel has suffered physical and psychological injuries as a result of the attack.

He has had to increase both the frequency and the dosages of his medications and suffers from 

PTSD. Manuel lost three teeth as a result of the attack, which affects his speech and eating, and 

he needs a new denture plate. Manuel Decl. ¶ 26. 

77. As a direct result of this attack, Manuel has had to meet weekly with mental

health professionals to manage the psychological effects of the attack. His mental state 

sometimes makes him physically ill to the point of vomiting. Manuel Decl. ¶ 27. 

78. Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, Manuel

fears that he could be subjected to another attack by the CERT at any time, without any reason. 

Manuel does not feel safe at Vaughn, and lives in constant fear of another attack and retaliation. 

Manuel Decl. ¶ 28. 

FACTS REGARDING PLAINTIFF TYRONE MORRIS 

79. At all times relevant to this case, Plaintiff Tyrone Morris was incarcerated at

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center. His cell was in Building 18, C-Tier, Lower 4. 

(Declaration of Tyrone Morris ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit D) (hereafter cited as “Morris Decl. ¶ 

__.”) 

80. Around 11:00 p.m. on the night of September 5, 2024, Morris woke up after he

heard loud knocking on his cell door. He looked out his cell window and saw the CERT outside 

his door. Morris Decl. ¶ 4. 
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81.    A member of the CERT told Morris to lay face down on his bed and put his 

hands behind his back. As Morris was complying, a member of the CERT threw a large canister 

into his cell through the food flap. The canister activated and began spewing pepper spray into 

the air. Morris Decl. ¶ 5. 

82.    Morris had not done or said anything that would justify the CERT tossing a 

pepper grenade into his cell. Morris Decl. ¶ 6. 

83.     The CERT then rushed into his cell, threw Morris to the ground, beat him, 

handcuffed him, and again pepper sprayed him with their handheld canisters, this time at very 

close range. Morris Decl. ¶ 7. 

84.   CERT members put a knee in Morris’s back while he was on the floor, and the 

beating left a knot on his forehead and bruises all over the right side of his face. Morris Decl. ¶ 8. 

85.    The pepper spray burned Morris’s eyes, nose, and mouth. A member of the CERT 

put a spit mask over Morris’s head, which only exacerbated the effects of the pepper spray. 

Morris Decl. ¶ 9. 

86.    During the attack, Morris repeatedly asked, “What did I do?” One of the CERT 

members answered, “You didn’t move fast enough.” Morris Decl. ¶ 10. 

87.    At no time during the incident did Morris fail to obey an order or resist the CERT 

members. Morris Decl. ¶ 11. 

88.    Defendant Captain Coviello supervised the incident, and correctional officers 

Koch, Payton, Challis, Spencer, and Wilgus were involved in the attack. Morris Decl. ¶ 12. 

89.     The CERT took Morris to see a nurse, but the individual only checked Morris’s 

vitals, while ignoring his complaints about the pepper spray and injuries from the beating. Morris 

Decl. ¶ 13. 
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90. No one decontaminated Morris after he was sprayed, and he was unable to

properly decontaminate himself. Morris was not allowed to shower for approximately two days. 

His clothing was contaminated with pepper spray. Morris Decl. ¶ 14. 

91. Morris sustained injuries to his back, neck, and left wrist, and had to use a

wheelchair for several days following the attack. Morris Decl. ¶ 15. 

92. Morris did not see a doctor in the medical department for at least two weeks after

the incident. The doctor told Morris that nothing was broken but failed to perform an x-ray on 

Morris’s neck. Morris received pain medication for a time, but it was discontinued, even though 

Morris was still in pain. Morris Decl. ¶ 16. 

93. Morris suffered fear and mental anguish as a result of the attack. He believes that

the correctional officers at Vaughn could kill him and get away with it. He has never felt more 

helpless in his life. Morris Decl. ¶ 17. 

94. Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, Morris

fears that he could be subjected to another attack by the CERT at any time, without any reason. 

He is constantly worried that the correctional officers will assault him again. Morris Decl. ¶ 18. 

FACTS REGARDING PLAINTIFF DARNELL PIERCE 

95. At all times relevant to this case, Plaintiff Darnell Pierce was incarcerated at

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center. (Declaration of Darnell Pierce ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit E) 

(hereafter cited as “Pierce Decl. ¶ __.”) 

96. On September 5, 2024, Pierce was housed in Building 18, cell upper 10. During

the day he saw the CERT coming on and off the tier, bringing inmates onto the tier from other 

locations. At that time, the CERT was not yet conducting shakedowns in Building 18. Pierce 

Decl. ¶ 3. 
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97.     When Pierce spoke with the inmates CERT had brought onto the tier during the 

day, they reported that the CERT had assaulted them, in spite of the fact that they had not caused 

any problems and had not resisted. Pierce Decl. ¶ 4. 

98.   One of the CERT members walking through Building 18 during the daytime 

looked at Pierce as he walked by Pierce’s cell and called Pierce a “pussy.” Pierce Decl. ¶ 5. 

99.    Later that night, the CERT came to Building 18, and when they did, Pierce was 

terrified. The shakedowns and raids were brutal. One inmate was shot in the leg, likely with a 

rubber bullet, and seriously injured. Pierce heard a staff member yelling, “Is the ambulance here? 

Make sure he doesn’t bleed out!” Pierce Decl. ¶ 6. 

100.    The CERT came to Pierce’s cell. Pierce believes there were 9 or 10 CERT 

members present, although not all of them were in the cell, and that Defendant Warden Brian 

Emig was with the CERT. A few days later, Pierce heard other inmates on the tier say that Emig 

had been present. Pierce Decl. ¶ 7. 

101.    A female CERT member told him to lay on his back. Pierce did so. Pierce Decl.  

¶ 8. 

102.    The CERT stormed into Pierce’s cell, dropped him on the bed, and then tried to 

pick him up by the back of his shirt, choking him with the collar. Pierce Decl. ¶ 9. 

103.   The CERT then dropped Pierce to the floor, causing Pierce’s right shoulder to hit 

the edge of the bed on the way down. One member struck Pierce’s tailbone and anus with a knee 

or foot, causing part of his body to go numb. Pierce Decl. ¶ 10. 

104.     A CERT officer then picked Pierce up by his neck, lifted him up, turned him 

around and said, “I’m gonna give you an opportunity to fight me.” Pierce Decl. ¶ 11. 
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105.   Pierce, who had his hands up, told the officers he was not going to fight, and that 

he had a heart condition. Pierce Decl. ¶ 12. 

106.    The officer then hit Pierce, after which Pierce again said, “I’m not fighting you.” 

Pierce Decl. ¶ 13. 

107.    The officers then ordered Pierce to strip and turn around. Pierce Decl. ¶ 14. 

108.   CERT officers then strip-searched Pierce, without any reasonable justification for 

doing so. Pierce Decl. ¶ 15. 

109.     While Pierce was being strip searched, an officer grabbed Pierce’s neck and 

punched him in the back of the head. Pierce believes it was Warden Emig who struck him. Pierce 

Decl. ¶ 16. 

110.    While Pierce was naked, one of the CERT members read one of Pierce’s tattoos, 

and said, “gangster—we got a gangster,” a taunt that was repeated by the other officers. Pierce 

Decl. ¶ 17. 

111.   An officer—Pierce believes it was Defendant Todd Koch—then tried again to hit 

Pierce in the stomach but instead hit him in the pelvis. Pierce Decl. ¶ 18. 

112.    Pierce again warned CERT officers that he had a heart condition. Pierce Decl.  

¶ 19. 

113.    While Pierce was still naked, one of the officers on the CERT tapped Pierce’s 

penis and egged him on to fight. Pierce Decl. ¶ 20. 

114.     Pierce again refused to fight the officer. Pierce Decl. ¶ 21. 

115.    After putting his clothes back on, Pierce was again challenged to a fight by the 

officers. He again refused. Pierce Decl. ¶ 22. 

116.    CERT officers then placed Pierce in handcuffs. Pierce Decl. ¶ 23. 
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117.   While Pierce was cuffed, two of the CERT officers slammed Pierce around the 

cell by his neck, causing his face to hit the side of his desk. Pierce Decl. ¶ 24. 

118.     As they exited the cell, the officers slammed Pierce’s head against the door. 

Pierce Decl. ¶ 25. 

119.     At no time during the incident did Pierce fail to obey an order or resist the CERT 

members. Pierce Decl. ¶ 26. 

120.    Once outside his cell, Pierce saw the assault on Brian Snowden taking place. He 

watched as CERT members pepper-sprayed Snowden, beat him, and then pepper-sprayed him a 

second time, all without any provocation that Pierce could see. Pierce Decl. ¶ 27. 

121.    Outside the cell, Pierce asked if he could please just lean over a little due to the 

assault and his heart condition. A correctional officer who was handling a K-9 told Pierce, 

“You’re not leaning over,” and then placed the K-9 right beside Pierce so he could not lean. This 

happened twice. Pierce Decl. ¶ 28. 

122.   Eventually officers took Pierce back to his cell. Pierce Decl. ¶ 29. 

123.    A nurse came to see Pierce while he was lying injured on the floor of his cell.  

Pierce asked her for a sick call and explained his heart condition. The nurse replied, “I don’t 

have time for this.” Pierce Decl. ¶ 30. 

124.    Pierce suffered physical and psychological injuries as a result of the attack. Pierce 

had injuries to his head, back, and right shoulder, which still cause him pain. His rectum was 

bleeding after the attack. He still has pain in his tailbone, especially when sitting. During the 

assault, he believed he was going to die. He suffers from fear, anxiety, and PTSD. Pierce Decl.  

¶ 31. 
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125. Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, Pierce

fears that he could be subjected to another attack by the CERT at any time, without any reason. 

Pierce Decl. ¶ 32. 

FACTS REGARDING PLAINTIFF BRIAN SNOWDEN 

126. Plaintiff Brian Snowden arrived at Vaughn from Virginia on September 4, just

one day before the violent raid. When he arrived at Vaughn, Snowden was suffering from pre-

existing brain trauma, which resulted in memory loss, seizures, dizziness, and confusion. 

(Declaration of Brian Snowden ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit A) (hereafter cited as “Snowden Decl. ¶ 

_.”) 

127. On September 5, 2024, Snowden was housed in Building 18, C-Tier, cell 12.

Snowden Decl. ¶ 4. 

128. On the night of September 5, 2024, Snowden heard the CERT on his tier. When

the CERT reached Snowden’s cell at some time after 11:00 p.m., Snowden was lying on his 

stomach on his bed, with his hands behind his back. The CERT members stormed into 

Snowden’s cell and ordered him to stand up and face the back wall of his cell. Snowden Decl. ¶ 

5. 

129. CERT members then ordered Snowden to strip. They then ordered Snowden to

turn around, bend at the waist, and spread his buttocks. Snowden complied. A CERT member 

said, “Cough, motherfucker! Cough!” Another CERT member said, “Fuck it” and pepper 

sprayed Snowden while he was still bent over. Snowden was temporarily blinded and the pepper 

spray caused him severe pain. Snowden Decl. ¶ 6. 
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130.   While Snowden was still bent over, naked, and suffering from the pepper spray, 

one of the CERT members cuffed Snowden behind his back and another tried to forcefully insert 

an object or his fingers into Snowden’s rectum. Snowden Decl. ¶ 7. 

131.     CERT members then put Snowden’s boxers and shirt back on him, even though 

they were saturated with pepper spray. Snowden Decl. ¶ 8. 

132.   The CERT then removed Snowden from his cell, slammed him to the floor and 

punched him in the face at the top of the staircase in the Tier. In spite of the fact that Snowden 

was yelling that he was not resisting, the officers continued to hit him. One officer said, “This is 

how we do it in Smyrna—we don’t care that you came from Virginia!” The officer threatened to 

throw Snowden down the staircase. Snowden Decl. ¶ 9. 

133.   CERT members told Snowden to sit on the ground and cross his legs. Snowden 

complied, but when he crossed his legs, he felt like his genitals were burning due to the pepper 

spray soaking his boxers. Snowden Decl. ¶ 10. 

134.    As a result of the burning, Snowden uncrossed his legs. A CERT member then 

pepper-sprayed Snowden again at point blank range, while he was still cuffed behind his back, in 

direct violation of DOC policy and correctional officer training materials. The officer emptied an 

entire can of pepper spray in Snowden’s face, hair, and beard. Snowden Decl. ¶ 11. 

135.     Snowden thought he was going to die. There was pepper spray soaking his hair, 

beard, and mouth. He tried to spit out the pepper spray, but a CERT member told him that if he 

spit again, they would spray him again and then place a spit mask over his head. Snowden 

explained that there was an excessive amount of pepper spray in his mouth, but the CERT 

member told him, “suck it up and swallow it, fa**ot.” Snowden Decl. ¶ 12. 
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136.   Snowden was forced to swallow the pepper spray, out of fear for his life. 

Snowden Decl. ¶ 13.  

137.    While Snowden was suffering, CERT members cursed at him, yelled at him, and 

laughed at him. Snowden Decl. ¶ 14.  

138.    The CERT eventually took Snowden to cell upper 1 on C-Tier. Snowden Decl.  

¶ 15. 

139.   No one decontaminated Snowden after he was pepper-sprayed, and he was not 

able to properly decontaminate himself. He could not see due to the blinding effects of the 

pepper spray. In cell 1, Snowden had no cold water. He stripped his clothes off in an attempt to 

decrease the pain from the pepper spray. He was not given new clothes until the next day. He 

wasn’t allowed to shower for a day or two after the attack. Snowden Decl. ¶ 16. 

140.     At no time during the incident did Snowden fail to obey an order or resist the 

CERT members. Snowden Decl. ¶ 17. 

141.   The officers who searched Snowden’s cell threw away grievances, other 

paperwork, hygiene products, and a book Snowden was reading for no reason. Snowden Decl.  

¶ 18. 

142.    Snowden filed a PREA complaint. The complaint was investigated by Sergeant 

Hutchins. The investigation was completed on November 19, 2024, and Hutchins told Snowden 

on December 12, 2024, that he could not see what had happened inside the cell, so he could not 

substantiate Snowden’s PREA complaint. However, Hutchins confirmed that he had seen video 

of the attack that happened outside the cell. Snowden Decl. ¶ 19. 

143.    Snowden suffered physical and psychological injuries as a result of the attack. 

Because he does not know which officers assaulted him, he lives in constant fear that he will be 
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cuffed, sprayed, and/or assaulted at any time. He suffered severe burning from the pepper spray, 

and serious pain in his rectum, but was never allowed to complete a rape kit. He suffers shame 

and mental anguish due to the attack. Snowden Decl. ¶ 20. 

144.    Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, 

Snowden fears that he could be subjected to another attack by the CERT at any time, without any 

reason. He fears for his life. Snowden Decl. ¶ 21. 

FACTS REGARDING PLAINTIFF JAMAR WATERS 

145.     At all times relevant to this case, Plaintiff Jamar Waters was incarcerated at 

James T. Vaughn Correctional Center. (Declaration of Jamar Waters ¶ 3, attached as Exhibit F) 

(hereafter cited as “Waters Decl. ¶ _.”) 

146.     Although his permanent regular housing unit was located in Building 18, Waters 

on September 5, 2024, was housed in Building 21, D-Tier, Lower 11, for psychiatric close 

observation (PCO) due to his mental health struggles. Waters Decl. ¶ 4. 

147.   Waters therefore did not know about the CERT raid on Building 18 on September 

5, 2024, although other residents of Building 18 later told him about the raid when he returned 

from Building 21 to his regular housing assignment. Waters Decl. ¶ 5. 

148.    At approximately 1:30 a.m. on September 6, 2024, while Waters was sound 

asleep in his close observation cell in Building 21, the CERT arrived at his cell. Waters Decl. ¶ 6. 

149.     They did not knock and directly violated Department of Correction policy and 

operating procedures regarding treatment of an individual placed in PCO by opening Waters’s 

cell door, storming in, and grabbing Waters out of bed. Waters Decl. ¶ 7. 

150.    CERT members then threw Waters against the wall. Terrified and confused, 

Waters tried to protect himself but eventually went limp. Waters Decl. ¶ 8. 
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151.   CERT members punched Waters in his forehead, chin, and body, and smashed his 

head into the wall. They put Waters’s hands behind his back and cuffed him. Waters Decl. ¶ 9.  

152.    One of the CERT members put a finger in Waters’s rectum, without any warning 

or justification. Waters Decl. ¶ 10. 

153.    CERT members took Waters out of his cell, marched him to a corner and shoved 

him up against a wall. Waters Decl. ¶ 11. 

154.     Eventually the CERT took Waters back to his close observation cell. Waters 

Decl. ¶ 12. 

155.    After they had uncuffed Waters, a CERT member told him, “Ok, we’re gonna 

fuck you up.” Waters Decl. ¶ 13. 

156.   Eventually the CERT members left Waters’s cell. Waters Decl. ¶ 14. 

157.   After the CERT left, Waters spoke with Sergeant White. Waters asked White why 

they would allow the CERT to assault him, and White replied, “We’ve never seen anything like 

that before.” Waters Decl. ¶ 15. 

158.     Waters also later spoke with the Sergeant in Building 21 who had opened 

Waters’s cell door for the CERT. The Sergeant told Waters he hadn’t wanted to open the cell 

door for the CERT, but the major of the CERT told him he had to. The Sergeant also told Waters 

that Defendant Warden Brian Emig had given the greenlight for the CERT raids, and that Emig 

himself was a former CERT member. Waters Decl. ¶ 16. 

159.    Defendant Sergeant Kristen Bartell was present while Waters was assaulted, as 

was Defendant Sergeant Mejia. Waters Decl. ¶ 17. 

160.    At no time during the incident did Waters fail to obey an order or present a threat 

to the CERT members. Waters Decl. ¶ 18. 
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161.    Waters suffered physical and psychological injuries as a result of the assault. A 

doctor in the psychiatric close observation area saw the effects of the attack on Waters, including 

a bloody head wound. He suffered bruises and scratches on his chest. He suffered pain in his 

shoulders and neck as a result of the attack. He was x-rayed but never received the results. 

Waters Decl. ¶ 19. 

162.    Defendant Warden Brian Emig later came to Waters’s cell once Waters had 

returned to Building 18. Emig told Waters that he was investigating why Waters had been 

assaulted. Waters challenged him, asking how he could be responsible for investigating the 

incident when Emig himself was directing the operation. He received no satisfactory reply. 

Waters Decl. ¶ 20. 

163.   Because of the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified nature of the attack, Waters 

fears that he could be subjected to another attack by the CERT at any time, without any reason. 

The attack severely aggravated his PTSD. Waters have trouble sleeping, and the sounds of cell 

doors opening causes him fear and anxiety of another attack. Waters Decl. ¶ 21. 

ADDITIONAL RELEVANT FACTS 

164.    The DOC’s Use of Force policy provides the framework for how force may be 

used in DOC facilities consistent with the U.S. constitution, federal case law, and other laws. A 

true and accurate copy of the DOC’s Use of Force policy is attached as Exhibit G.  

165.   Under the DOC Use of Force policy: 

a. COs at Delaware prisons are not permitted to use force to punish people;  

b. The DOC uses a graduated approach to the use of force, meaning the amount 

of force that is appropriate (if any) is calibrated to the particular situation;  
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c. COs are obligated to de-escalate potential conflicts in order to prevent the

need for any use of force;

d. COs are permitted to use only reasonable force;

e. Reasonable force means only the amount of force necessary to gain an

inmate’s compliance, and no more;

f. COs have an obligation to consider the health and mental status of an

individual before using force on them;

g. COs have an obligation to intervene if they see another individual using

excessive force;

h. COs have an obligation to report any uses of excessive force that they witness;

i. The use of excessive force by a CO is subject to discipline, up to and

including termination.

166. In addition to the Use of Force policy, correctional officer training materials

provide specific guidance on the appropriate use of force by COs at Vaughn. 

167. Specifically, the materials used by the DOC’s Steven R. Floyd Training Academy

during both basic and annual refresher trainings of Vaughn COs provide: 

a. All details about the proper use of force under the DOC Use of Force

policy;

b. Specific updates on current case law regarding how to properly use force

in correctional settings consistent with the constitutional rights of

incarcerated individuals;

c. That the proper procedure for any given use of force it is to use the

minimum amount of force appropriate under the circumstances, evaluate

Case 1:25-cv-00100-UNA     Document 1     Filed 01/23/25     Page 26 of 35 PageID #: 26



 27  

whether that force has been sufficient to gain compliance, again use force 

if necessary only as appropriate to gain compliance (evaluating again 

after using such force), obtain full control of the individual by 

handcuffing them, and then take the individual to the medical department 

for evaluation;  

d. In the event that pepper spray is deployed, the CO is directed not to 

deploy the spray from a distance closer than three feet, because of the risk 

of serious injury that results from “hydraulic needling” and other harmful 

effects of the pepper spray;  

e. Pepper-sprayed individuals are never to be left unattended until they have 

been decontaminated, due to the risk of serious injury from prolonged 

exposure, and to the fact that it takes ten (10) days for pepper spray to 

naturally biodegrade;  

f. Specific instructions for how to properly decontaminate pepper-sprayed 

individuals;  

g. A specific instruction that going “hands-on” with an individual 

immediately after pepper spraying them is not the proper procedure 

(because the CO should first evaluate whether the pepper spray alone has 

been sufficient to gain compliance, in which case going “hands-on” is not 

necessary and is therefore excessive force); 

h. A specific and detailed explanation of the physical and psychological 

effects of pepper spray, which include burning, trouble breathing, cough, 
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eye swelling, anxiety, panic, disorientation, and trouble hearing and 

responding to commands. 

168. Although many of the Plaintiffs filed grievances through Vaughn’s internal

grievance procedure to challenge the unconstitutional conduct of Defendants, those grievances 

have not resulted in any meaningful review of the incidents alleged in this lawsuit, nor to 

Plaintiffs’ knowledge have they resulted in any discipline for any of the Defendants. Most of the 

grievances were “returned unprocessed.” See, e.g., Exhibit B-1 to Flores’s Declaration.  

169. The simple fact is that the supposed process by which incarcerated individuals in

Delaware register complaints against DOC staff for alleged uses of excessive force grievances is 

so flawed that it does not provide any meaningful administrative remedy. The DOC recently 

acknowledged as much in another excessive force case. See 12/20/2023 Stipulation and Proposed 

Order Regarding Defendants’ Affirmative Defenses, pp. 1-2, Case No. 1:21-cv-01773-GBW 

(striking DOC’s affirmative defense that Plaintiffs had failed to exhaust their administrative 

remedies), attached as Exhibit J. 

170. Further, although the stated policy of the Delaware Department of Correction is

that all use of force incidents are reviewed by prison officials, this “review” is nothing but a 

meaningless endeavor whereby prison officials rubber stamp every use of force by DOC staff as 

appropriate and lawful.  

171. Complaints of excessive force by DOC staff are almost never reviewed by any

individual other than the warden of the facility at issue; virtually no allegation of excessive force 

is ever reviewed by anyone outside the facility, and virtually none is ever reviewed by anyone 

outside the employ and control of the Delaware Department of Correction.  
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172. Vaughn employs institutional investigators, but these individuals typically

investigate staff misconduct other than excessive force (i.e. contraband, improper relationships, 

etc.).  

173. The Warden of Vaughn has the authority to refer excessive force allegations to

the Internal Affairs department at the DOC, but in the very rare circumstance where the Warden 

makes such a referral, the Internal Affairs investigation is so cursory, one-sided, and biased that 

it invariably results in exoneration for correctional officers. The internal affairs department 

investigators either do not understand the DOC use of force policy or exonerate COs in spite of 

concluding that the COs had in fact used excessive force.  

174. As a result of all of these factors, Plaintiffs—and indeed all persons incarcerated

in Delaware—have no legitimate way to secure redress for excessive force, except through legal 

action.  

175. Plaintiffs also note that complaints about excessive force at Vaughn in general,

and about the DOC’s use of the CERT specifically, are sadly nothing new. Following the well-

publicized riot at Vaughn in 2017 and the DOC’s chaotic response, then-Governor John Carney 

commissioned an Independent Review of Security Issues at the James T. Vaughn Correctional 

Center. A true and accurate copy of the Final Report on the 2017 Vaughn Riot (“Final Report”) 

is attached as Exhibit H.2  

176. Portions of the Final Report on the 2017 Vaughn riot could have been drafted in

response to this Verified Compliant. 

177. The drafters of the Final Report noted that during the response to the 2017

Vaughn riot, “CERT members intentionally wore balaclavas so that they were unidentifiable to 

2 The Final Report on the 2017 Vaughn Riot is accessible at: Final Report: Independent Review of Security Issues at 

the James T. Vaughn Correctional Center - National Policing Institute (last accessed 1/22/2025).  
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inmates,” and that, “Actions by staff members, before and after the incident that began on 

February 1, 2017 not only made the facility a more dangerous place to work, but also make 

communities less safe once offenders subjected to these conditions are released.” Ex. H., p. 22. 

178. One of the express recommendations of the drafters of the Final Report was:

The DOC Commissioner should review the practice of masked mass 

shakedowns by CERT. During interviews, the Independent Review 

Team heard that CERT members were conducting shakedowns that 

appeared to be intended to intimidate inmates. 

Ex. H, p. 26 (italicized bold text in original; underlining added). 

179. The Final Report further notes that, “JTVCC staff do not want to undertake some

aspects of their job, instead relying on CERT to do those tasks.” Ex. H., p. 40 (emphasis added). 

180. All of this contradicts the DOC’s own stated purpose for employing the CERT—

to address emergencies, not to conduct everyday operations at Delaware prisons. 

181. According to the facts set forth above, Defendants have completely

ignored the Final Report and its recommendations. As a result, the CERT continues to be 

used to conduct regular prison operations at the whim of the CERT Warden the Warden 

of Vaughn, to intimidate inmates, and to violate the constitutional rights of individuals 

incarcerated at Vaughn, including Plaintiffs. 

COUNT I – EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS – 

USE OF EXCESSIVE FORCE 

182. The foregoing allegations are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

183. In all incidents alleged in this lawsuit, all of the Defendants’ use of force was

unjustified, unnecessary, and excessive. 

184. All Defendants directly participated in the assaults on Plaintiffs, in spite of the

fact that Plaintiffs presented no threat, complied with all orders, and did not resist. 
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185.   Defendants’ use of excessive force against Plaintiffs violates Plaintiffs’ 

Fourteenth and Eighth Amendment rights to be free from cruel and unusual punishment.  

186.   Defendants violated the DOC’s own Use of Force policy by failing to de-escalate 

potential conflicts to avoid the need for any use of force in the first instance, by using force 

where none was necessary because no Plaintiff was failing to comply, by deploying far more 

force than was necessary supposedly to gain compliance of Plaintiffs, by using pepper grenades 

when such force was clearly excessive and unnecessary, by using force for no reason other than 

to punish and harm Plaintiffs, by continuing to use force against Plaintiffs who were already 

complying and under control, by assaulting Plaintiffs without considering their health or mental 

status, by failing to intervene while witnessing uses of excessive force, and by failing to report 

excessive uses of force.  

187.   Defendants violated the DOC’s policies and procedures by ignoring the DOC’s 

training materials in general, and specifically by failing to follow the proper steps for use of 

force incidents, by deploying pepper spray at a distance much closer than three feet (often point 

blank range), by going “hands-on” with Plaintiffs immediately after they were pepper sprayed, 

by failing to decontaminate Plaintiffs who were pepper sprayed, by leaving Plaintiffs unattended 

without decontaminating after they were pepper-sprayed, by continuing to assault Plaintiffs 

while knowing they were suffering from the debilitating physical and psychological effects of 

pepper spray, and by failing to ensure adequate medical evaluation and treatment of Plaintiffs.  

188.    All of these actions and omissions by Defendants demonstrate that Defendants 

demonstrated gross negligence, recklessness, and deliberate indifference to Plaintiffs’ physical 

and psychological injuries, pain, suffering, and constitutional rights.  
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189. In addition, Defendants Emig and Howard were aware of the constitutional

violations because they directly observed them, allowed such violations to occur, failed to 

supervise the individuals committing the violations, and failed to stop the violations, all of which 

demonstrates deliberate indifference to the violations of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights.  

190. Defendants’ improper and dangerous use of pepper spray and pepper grenades

against Plaintiffs, their failure to decontaminate Plaintiffs, their failure to ensure adequate 

medical evaluation and treatment for Plaintiffs, and their subsequent punishment of Plaintiffs 

through loss of privileges, solitary confinement and other sanctions violated Plaintiffs’ 

Fourteenth and Eighth Amendment rights to be free from cruel and unusual punishment.  

COUNT II – EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS – 

FAILURE TO SUPERVISE 

191. Defendants Emig and Howard are officials with supervisory and policymaking

authority at James T. Vaughn and/or with respect to the CERT. 

192. Specifically, Emig and Howard as wardens are responsible for ensuring that all

correctional officers under their supervision and control adhere to the DOC’s Use of Force 

Policy, which requires de-escalation of potential conflicts to prevent the need for use of force in 

the first instance, prohibit the use of force where none is necessary, prohibit the use of any level 

of force beyond what is necessary to gain compliance of the incarcerated person, and prohibit the 

use of force to punish incarcerated individuals.  

193. Due to their positions as wardens, Emig and Howard are also responsible for

ensuring that all correctional officers under their supervision and control act consistent with the 

initial and annual refresher training courses, which specifically prohibit the deployment of 
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pepper spray at a distance closer than three feet and further prohibit leaving sprayed individuals 

unattended without decontaminating them.  

194. Contrary to their duties, Emig and Howard either ordered and directed the

unconstitutional actions by the CERT, or they observed and supervised those actions without 

stopping the flagrant CERT attacks, which violated both DOC policy and DOC correctional 

officer training. 

195. In their supervision and direction of the CERT, Emig and Howard knowingly and

unreasonably disregarded an objectively intolerable risk of harm and demonstrated deliberate 

indifference to the constitutional rights of Plaintiffs.  

196. Had Emig and Howard properly supervised the remaining Defendants, they could

have prevented the violations of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights. 

197. Due to the arbitrary, unprovoked, and unjustified attacks, Plaintiffs have a

legitimate fear that such attacks will continue to take place under the direction and supervision of 

Emig and Howard into the indefinite future.  

198. The ACLU of Delaware has continued to receive complaints from individuals

incarcerated at Vaughn regarding the excessive use of force by corrections officers. (See 

Declaration of Donna White, ¶ 8, attached as Exhibit I) (hereafter “White Aff. ¶ __.”). The 

ACLU of Delaware received one such complaint as recently as December 30, 2024. (White Aff. 

¶ 9.)  

199. By engaging in this conduct, and by failing or refusing to discipline officers

employing excessive force against incarcerated persons, Defendants Emig and Howard were 

personally involved in the violations of Plaintiffs’ Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights.  
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200. Defendants Emig and Howard, by virtue of their own deliberate indifference to

known deficiencies in their policies, procedures, and actions, allowed an environment to develop 

in which there was an unreasonable risk that a constitutional injury would occur, and their 

deliberate indifference caused or contributed to Plaintiffs’ injuries.  

201. They were subjectively aware of the risk of harm to Plaintiffs because the actions

of the CERT were in direct violation of the Use of Force policy that is specifically designed to 

prevent precisely the type of harm inflicted on Plaintiffs as a result of excessive and unnecessary 

force.  

202. The deliberate indifference of Defendants Emig and Howard to the unjustified,

unnecessary, and unconstitutional uses of force inflicted by CERT and correctional officers on 

duty at Vaughn on September 5 and 6, 2024 were a proximate cause of the assaults on Plaintiffs 

and the resulting injuries and damages.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that the Court grant the following relief: 

A. A declaration that Defendants have violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional

rights;

B. A preliminary and permanent injunction as prospective relief against any

future unconstitutional actions by the CERT at James T. Vaughn;

C. Money damages against Defendants sued in their individual capacities to

compensate Plaintiffs for past injuries and damages they suffered as a

result of the assaults by Defendants;

D. Punitive damages against Defendants sued in their individual capacities;

E. Attorneys' fees and costs; and

F. Any other relief the Court deems just and proper.
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs demand a jury trial on all claims and issues triable by a jury.  

Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/ Dwayne J. Bensing    

Dwayne J. Bensing 

DE Bar No. 6754 

Legal Director ACLU of Delaware 

100 W. 10th St., Suite 706 

Wilmington, DE 19801 

T: 302-295-2113 

E: dbensing@aclu-de.org  
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